% Posted to DOJ OIG
‘B FOIA Reading Room After
Earlier FOIA Release

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE | OFFICE OF THE INSPECTOR GENERAL

REPORT OF INVESTIGATION

SUBJECT CASE NUMBER
2021-011638

Program Analysis Officer
Federal Bureau of Investigation

OFFICE CONDUCTING INVESTIGATION DOJ COMPONENT
Washington Field Office Federal Bureau of Investigation
DISTRIBUTION STATUS
K Field Office  WFO O OPEN [0 OPEN PENDING PROSECUTION ® CLOSED
O AIGINV PREVIOUS REPORT SUBMITTED: O YES X NO
B cComponent FBI Date of Previous Report:
O UsA
O oOther
SYNOPSIS
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During the course of the investigation, the OIG found indications tha‘t—iacked candor during her compelled
interview with the OIG.

The OIG investigation substantiated the allegation that PEE@E  lengaged in unprofessional contact of a sexual nature
with several FBl employees and sexually harassed several FBl employees, including through both uninvited touching and
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The OIG interviewed FBl employees who were named in the original anonymous complaint who witnessed unprofessional
behavior or were sexually harassed by ' Additionally, the OIG conducted an initial interview of PRl ]
regarding the incident where ; attempted to kiss hlrr— however, —decllned the OIG's
request for a second, voluntary interview. Multiple witnesses told the OIGREBBEI frequently made inappropriate
sexual jokes, comments, and gestures in the workplace which created an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working
environment. Several witnesses provided specific examples of such conduct, such as lifting her leg to ostensibly show her
shoe, but knowingly exposing her underwear and groin area to her colleagues. Four different witnesses told the OIG that

touched their buttocks without their consent. Multiple witnesses also told OIG that made
inappropriate sexual jokes, comments, and innuendos.

In a compelled OIG intewiew,_s-aid she could not recall if she touched the buttocks of her four colleagues,

while repeatedly stating it was possible. PEBE@Isaid she did not recall the incident where she lifted her leg

exposing her underwear and groin area to her colleagues. _also did not remember making advances on a

female colleague, though she admitted telling that colleague [BBBG ] _ denied she attempted to kiss
n the lips, but she admitted it may have accidentally happened as she was kissing his cheeks and admitted she

was flirting with him during an overseas trip.

of—actions as soon as he

decided not to report the incident, but

In a compelled interview—sald he received notice from ;
returned from the overseas trip, but, after conferring with[Z8 5%

rather provided "verbal counseling” t _

The United States Attorney's Office—declined prosecution.

The OIG has completed its investigation and is providing this report to the FBI for appropriate action.

Unless otherwise noted, the OIG applies the preponderance of the evidence standard in determining whether DO)J
personnel have committed misconduct. The Merit Systems Protection Board applies this same standard when reviewing a
federal agency's decision to take adverse action against an employee based on such misconduct. See 5US.C. §
7701(c)(1)(B); 5 C.FR. § 1201.56(b)(1)(ii).
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DETAILS OF INVESTIGATION

Predication

The Department of Justice (DOJ) Office of the Inspector General (OIG) initiated this investigation upon the receipt of
information from the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) that an anonymous complainant alleged that Program Analysis
OfficeriE e sexually harassed multiple coworkers [P e

harassment.

During the course of the investigation, the OIG found indications that _Iacked candor during her compelled
interview with the OIG.

Investigative Process

The OIG's investigative efforts consisted of the following:

Interviews of the following FBI personnel:

rogram Analysis Officer
then Unit Chief

Review of the following:

e FBINet emails, UNet Emails, and Lync message records for—
e FBINet emails, Unet Emails, and Lync message records for_

— Sexual Harassment of Multiple FBI Coworkers, Unprofessional Conduct,
and Lack of Candor to the OIG

The information provided to the OIG alleged PEBBG  lexually harassed multiple FBI coworkers and engaged in
unprofessional conduct. The information stated told inappropriate jokes in the workplace, exposed herself

to a coworker, touched the buttocks of multiple coworkers, and attempted to kiss [FEBoE
-hile on temporary duty (TDY).
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Jacked candor during her compelled

During the course of the investigation, the OIG found indications that|
interview.

Attorney General Policy Memorandum #2015-04 — Prevention of Harassment in the Workplace, dated October 9, 2015,
states in part:

The Department of Justice will maintain a zero-tolerance work environment that is free from harassment
(including sexual harassment) based on sex, race, caolor, religion, national origin, gender identity, age, disability
(physical or mental), genetic information, status as a parent, sexual arientation, marital status, political affiliation,
or any other impermissible factor.... Harassing conduct is defined as any unwelcome verbal or physical conduct
that is based on any of the above-referenced characteristics when this conduct explicitly or implicitly affects an
individual's employment; unreasonably interferes with an individual's work performance; or creates an
intimidating, hostile, or offensive work environment.

To enforce this zero-tolerance policy, the Department will treat harassing conduct as misconduct, even if it does
not rise to the level of harassment actionable under Title VIl of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended. The
Department will not wait for a pattern of offensive conduct to emerge before addressing claims of harassment.
Rather, the Department will act before the harassing conduct is so pervasive and offensive as to constitute a
hostile environment. Even where a single utterance of an ethnic, sexual, racial, or other offensive epithet may not
be severe enough to constitute unlawful harassment in violation of Title VI, it is the Department'’s view that such
conduct must be prevented whenever possible through awareness, robust policies and effective and appropriate
follow-up, investigation, and enforcement of the zero-tolerance policy.

FBI Offense Code 5.20, entitled “Sexual Harassment" prohibits “[m]aking unwelcome or unwanted sexual advances,
requesting sexual favors, or engaging in other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature. Unwelcome conduct of a
sexual nature by a supervisor or a coworker can constitute sexual harassment.”

There are separate FBI offense codes applicable to "Unprofessional Conduct” depending on whether the employee was
engaged in conduct while on duty or off duty. Offense Code 5.22, Unprofessional Conduct — On Duty, applies to
misconduct not otherwise delineated in a specific Offense Code and prohibits FBI employees from, "engaging in conduct,
while on duty, which dishonors, disgraces, or discredits the FBI; seriously calls into question the judgment or character of
the employee; or compromises the standing of the employee among his peers or the community.” Offense Code 5.21,
Unprofessional Conduct — Off Duty, prohibits employees from "engaging in conduct, while off duty, which dishonors,
disgraces, or discredits the FBI; seriously calls into question the judgment or character of the employee, or compromises
the standing of the employee among his peers or his community.”

FBI Harassment Policy, 1038D, defines "Sexual Harassment” as:
[A] form of harassment based on sex and is characterized by (1) unwelcome sexual advances; (2) requests for sexual
favars; and (3) other verbal, nonverbal, or physical conduct of a sexual nature that Is directed at an individual of the

same or opposite sex when:

Submission to, or rejection of, this conduct by an individual is made a term or a condition of an individual’s
employment, either explicitly or implicitly.

[Or] [t]his conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual’s work performance or
creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working environment.

Sexual harassment may include, but is not limited to:
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Oral or written comments of a sexual nature.
Statements, jokes, or anecdotes with sexual content or innuendos.

e Sexual comments or gestures regarding an individual's body.

» Gestures that contain sexual innuendos or are sexually degrading in nature.

e Physical touching or the threat of physical contact.

e Display of posters, calendars, books, pictures, diagrams, or magazines with sexual content.
Persistent pressuring of an individual for a date or a sexual encounter.

(Section numbers omitted.)

Title VIl of the Civil Rights Act, as implemented by 23 C.F.R. § 1604.11, provides: “Unwelcome sexual advances, requests
for sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature constitute sexual harassment when (1)
submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of an individual's employment, (2)
submission ta or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for employment decisions affecting such
individual, or (3) such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual’'s work performance
or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working environment.”

defines Misdemeanor Sexual Abuse as "Whoever engages in a sexual act
or sexual contact with another person and who should have knowledge or reason to know that the act was committed
without that other person’s permission, shall be imprisoned for not more than 180 days and, in addition, may be fined in
an amount not more than the amount set forth in PR ] defines “sexual contact” as “the
touching with any clothed or unclothed body part or any object, either directly or through the clothing, of the genitalia,
anus, groin, breast, inner thigh, or buttocks ofan person with an intent to abuse, humiliate, harass, degrade, or arouse or
gratify the sexual desire of any person.” [ i |

FBI Offense Code 2.6, entitled “Lack of Candor/Lying — Under Oath,” prohibits, “[k]nowingly providing false information in
a verbal or written statement made under oath.” "False Information” is defined as including "false statements,
misrepresentations, the failure ta be fully forthright, or the concealment or omission of a material fact/information.”

i ltold the OIG that while TDY [ Ikissed [him] on the mouth” and the encounter was
unsolicited and unwanted. | [stated he was not interested in pursuing charges against [# |for this
behavior. After this initial contact, [FBER declined to participate in a second, full interview with the OIG.

: B told her about an incident in which ¢ | “tried to
| couid not recall when|Bigx e old her about the incident or when it occurred. Accordmg to
i | "1 was taken aback, and | don't know if | should file or what to do, so | called BB

During a compelled OIG interview|
he was a Unit Chief

fonfirmed he was— supervisor

[the first incident relating to - |behavior occurred in
phidts 1 _ |said he received a text message from KK
on either a#eESiaE ' _ which aske ] R because he wanted to discuss an incident
that happened between him and [P e over the phone that
he tookEEBEEto the airport, and as they were saying thelr goodbyes lips touched his lips and

[ thought it was intentiona Jrecalled spending about an hour and fifty minutes on the phone with
|discussing the incident in detail. According to ] said when he went to say goodbye to

e Eme | they went to gwe ch other a kiss on the cheek, from one side to the other, but}

touched his lips ) [ |told him he thought the kiss was intentional becau 1 "lips were
wet." EEEGS ] sald tha was adamant it was intentional because the only reason somebody s lips would be
wet was to kiss somebody. [FER if, dunng the trip, were there any unwanted comments,
gazes, text messages, or touching by s

replied, "No.” said he also asked if
U.5. Department of Justice PAGE: 6
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a:d anything before or after the kiss that led him to believe the kiss was intentional, to which [
" |said nobody else saw the incident. — said that he thought the allegations were

replied, "No." &
"extraordinary” and that he took them “very seriously.”

EEEEE 0ld the OIG that during the after-trip review with—he asked—if she kissed

at the airport and her reaction was, “What are you talking about?” [PEEBB& ] said he asked her, “Could it be that when
you gave him a kiss goodbye, that you may have brushed his lips?” '
that she “thought it was ridiculous.” FEERENNsaid he told| .
interpreted the situation as rying to kiss him. According tof reaction was,

"Absolutely not, not even close." [FERBEINNsaid that dunni the discussion, [FFEEEEIN told PG that moving

forward, there would be no[2%E goodbyes” fro either overseas or in the office. According to
appeared shocked, angry, and embarrassed, and indicated that she thought was
being unfair with her, but ultimately agreed. -aid he told _it was a "verbal counseling” and that
there was "no paper,” but to consider it counseling because the matter was "serious.” _said he did not have any

documentation that he verbally counselled—

Jrecalled a second incident where he addressed]
occurred infEEEE during a TDY |
said durin

a soccer event with foreign partners,
now thaEERERRR - lkcd by 2 B8

behavior with her. The second incident

Japproached ¥ and said, “I want you to
counterpart and she put her hands on the shoulders of the male
foreign partner PR hbout the incident shortly after BBigiinformed him.
According tol | admitted she touched the shoulders of the foreign partner, but said it was in a
“good game, good job...the same thing that you're doing with these guys...slapping them on the back.” [FEBE&N] told

PFEEET ] You are female, they're male, we're overseas. You're a _ FBI representative. You can't seem ‘overly
friendly’ because “they could misinterpret it." [FEEGONLaid PGS ] agreed, and they never discussed the matter

again.

was loud and is "old school,” meaning she came from a _

atmosphere where you must be direct and hold people accountable for their work and actions, said that due
to this way of acting, “rubbed a lot of people the wrong way.” @ lrecalled there were always

tensions between and other iR
said he constantly provided e lmentorship and supervisory advice

because she aspired to be 4

Jtold the OIG that he first met [0

when he was assigned t

described

conversation af = i i _ las
was walkmg away from the conversation, she grabbed : P described

the touch as an “atta boy, locker room...kind of slap.” EEEE@SI said he thought to himself, “holy cow, she just,

like, slapped me on my ass.” escribed the incident as "a shocker” and “uncomfortably close,” but said

he "took it...kind of as a joke." [FBREI ] confirmed the encounter was unsolicited and unwanted.

d the OIG that he worked at |
| grab the buttocks of *
during a conversation about clothing in the office,
comfortable your pants are so, | am going to grab your ass.”

According to
"l want to see how
reached out and squeezed

recalled
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said - eacted with a nervous laugh, and that
reacted by saying somethmg to the effect of "oh, just relax, you know, it's okay.”

|said he would frequently interact wit .
; was "strictly professional” and he never "hung out W|th" ‘on a pe
' descnbed— as "flirty" and said she "gets very close to people .
: iked to make “"shocking” comments and jokes in the office. - :
made people feel uncomfortable in the workplace. For example, *said that on one occasionfieec
"l am really good at two things. Cookzng is one of them, and | can't tell you what the other thing is, but it involves my
mouth.” aid he believed - made that statement to who confirmed similar
comments as described below il | told him about a TDY overseas trip where met an
kontinuously made comments
about what she wanted to do with the including see him with his shirt off and get him in her training
program. confirmed the statements from the overseas trip, adding that these comments were made in front of
EEBHEIN “boss’s boss,” another employee, and [BEER detailed that during a happy hour event,
while wearing a revealing dress, grabbed her breasts pushed them up, and said toag

roup of people, "You
know how many drinks | have because the zipper goes down lower and lower as the night goes on.” Htold the
OIG, "It wasn't joking. It was...very sexual in nature.”

UU[SidE of [1he] offlce

: detailed —has put her arm around or hugged him on several occasions while she discussed various
topics. [PEEBIEsaid the touching was unwanted and made him uncomfortable. [BEEBIBEI] said that he never told

EEESPER to stop that type of behavior, but he said, "I just kind of distanced myself from her, just because | don't like
physical contact as it is, in general.”

walking into the building together and

said to_ ‘I want to

made this comment “not [like] a normal person would say it,”

but rather said it with an underlying sexual tone behind it.

EEPPErecalled affif@Fonversation at i@l among]

responded by [aughing. &
o see "way up her inner thighs.’
|said that she was in shock.

corroborated the incident, adding she was certain

] felt_was "throwing it out there" to

you just did?”

_ | told the OIG that she me
stated she had only a professional relationship wit Said she always tried to stay away from
because she did not agree with how she carried herself, personally or professionally. [§iie ] said BRe |
Jwas never on time and always missed work deadlines. BB said makes "sexual jokes" in almcst
every conversation,” and she tells jokes that refer to sexual acts, during conversations in the workplace. e
-jokes usually occur “after hours” and [has not heard the jokes "during regular work hours.

Bdetailed an incident that occurred on a TDY, in which she was walking up stairs and| who was behind
her, slapped her buttocks. -said she turned around and tol S to never do that again, that she did not
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|never did

_ | ' |said she was sorry and i
Iapped her buttocks as a joke.

|, told OIG that she had worked with f
said she “had a couple of encounters” wit Ihat have caused her to try to “pull away from having to be
related to her, either in a personal or professional way."[BEEg) further said “was not the “most professional
person” and made inappropriate comments, which made people feel uncomfortable detailed a conversation she
had with that she had stayed at affE
where there were other FBI employees staying. | Imade sexual comments to her abou
she saw at the pool with his shirt off. According to |also commented on how a different FBI employee
liked black women instead of white women.

| said that as an excuse so she coutd touch 2% :
buttocks[PEEMElsaid she did not say anythmg and tried to just "brush off" the situation, _recalted that she and
another coworker who was with her at the time rolled their eyes at each other after the incident happened because they
were accustomed to personality.

_ confirmed he worked, went to happy hours, and traveled TDY with
described [** | as loud, having a big personality, and having an adult sense of humor.
become more obvious at happy hour events.

In an OIG interview, —confirmed she worked with [®

recalled while in a hallway atf | "patted my bottom.” | _
pats” on the bottom of her buttock. [ )| remembered being upset and said, "Dude!” said she was on her
way to a meeting and did not discuss the incident any further with : S told the OIG that this incident
occurred in front of a male coworker, and she was concerned about what the coworker might think.

— said Pmade mapproprlate statements with sexual innuendos at work, and “dld not

consider them jokes. For example [FREmE told others in the office "at least a dozen times” that
she had a naked picture of herself, described herself as “hot" in the picture, and said, “I would do me.” According to
- would also talk in the office about "how many people she'd sept with"” while overseas. h
described at length, using hand motions, how she would please
ould talk loudly about these subjects, so that others “couldn’t

block it out” and that "she’s made—it’s like everything is sexual.” According to —wouid also rub
male coworkers on the back and arms.

_ said during a TDY -in approxirnately— while alone with said, "l like
your personality, | like you, you're cool.” According tofisEmmear I epeated this a couple of times and then
on one occasion said, R | and I'm interested in you. HE) BT she had a boyfriend, and she

was not interested in Jlike that. Nsaid the situation was “awkward and uncomfortable.’

said the incident occurred at the beginning of the TDY and that after the incident PE@B@I R would often come to her

hotel room and call her on the phone to hang ou |further sald that even when they returned to the U. S E

“just really laid [it] on,” including with text messages. described the situation as "weird."

PESESET ] vas “not happy” that |did not want to hang-out with her during the TDY, to the point where she
became “jerky” with he i er the incident, | ltalked negatively about her behind her back to
both her boss™ and to another FBI employee said she had concerns that denying
s Jadvances could negatively affect her job because | could call her "friends" to influence

not being selected for a position.

elt these traits

|since approximately
|described the touching as “two little
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ould not
butshe

|could not place where the
Jtold him the issue occurred after work hours when they
_ wanted to sleep with her” - sked

B | knew how she felt and if
]"didn’t want to get anything

1if she had talked to
i wanted to make an official complaint against
started " and said she would talk to [ ‘labout the situation. said he followed up a few weeks later with
EEEPETand asked about the status of her issue. Jconfirmed she talked with and said EEET]

i\ as leaving her alone and there was no need to file a complaint.

“lalso described a situation in approximately

| where [P&F |while atﬂ
described the context of the expression as "flirtatious” and "cutesy.’ ' compared it to a male saying,

“hey sweetie." After [2€ - | said "Hey Papi” to @EEsimE] he pulled her aside (either in his office or a hallway) and sald
he did not like the comment, and it was not approprlate to say in the workplace. responded by saying, |
apoioglze no worries, it won't happen again.” Several months later, said "Hey Papi” again to | %

Jsaid, "Oh yeah" and the matter was not discussed further.

i sald "Hey Papi” t

sex there” and "he could get lucky and have a threesome’’
could all have a threesome.”

usually dismissed [
said he would just let ‘have her fun and walk away."

say something. _ heardf

but was not certain.

uncomfortable with their interaction. said while they were departing the airport
giving farewell side kisses from cheek to cheek as part of a traditional cultural goodbye gesture.
i | were also present. [

| everybody was
said
]detailed how the kiss happened as they were both facing each
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other she kissed one side of| | cheek, and then kissed the other cheek. [ said she did not try and
on the mouth but said, "But | don't know if we accidentally, you know, | kissed him side here, side there.”
|was asked whether it was possible that her lips touched lips, she responded, "l didn't attempt to

go in for a kiss. Absolutely not. But. ..|t s possible frorn gomg from one side to the other.... The perception of that." [EEin]
denied she tried to kissf 90 on the lips. [ERESKEER | briefly on two occasions

during the trip, that she barely knew him, and she would never have trled to kiss him on the lips. B2 said she

thoughtfEE@  lwas good looking and that she did flirt with FEmSme showmg interest in him, and
asking him questions, but denied “coming on to him.” _acknowledged that T Hid not reciprocate the
flirting but said that did not “seem uncomfortable”

EZEE at first told the OIG that the only person who brought up the [B L |allegation to her wasf
that she had never recewed c0unsehng from a superwsm m connectlon with the alleged incident. Howeve
& ' S i he airport. She said she was uncertain as to how

d said

testimony that he specifically told|

| had disclosed the allegations to _ said she told [SEEEE N she only did the

cheek to cheek embrace kiss at the a;rpof‘t and did not try to kiss 8 Jon the lips. She said she also admitted to
-that she flirted wit However| |n5|5ted that, "there was no counseling,” but rather an

informal conversation because she andf Jare friends. According to[TPEE] did not give her a
formal counseling but told her, “You got to watch these people.”

—told the OIG that said she had coworkers approach her and inform her that things she said were
inappropriate; however, she could not identify anything specific, and denied she had ever been formally counseled for
inappropriate behavior within the workplace. [EEEBBERN described herself as a “hugger and a close talker,” but she did
not recall a situation where somebody complained about that conduct. —aiso denied she ever bragged about
a sexual conquest in the workplace.

B ] Jadmitted she flirted with [but denied having a romantic relationsh
descnbed the flirting as a “back and fohbanier and said that she discussed with
: said the flirting with [ =" |was always mutual.

th hirn. PR

hat "some time we could hook

||was asked about a situation that occurred in approximatel where she lifted her leg in the
air, to show off a pair of high heeled shoes, and exposed her underwear and groin area t
she did not recall the situation, but that it could have possibly happened if she showed her shoe.
said if she did lift her leg up, any exposure was unintentional. [B8 reaffirmed several times she did not recall the
incident but said if she did expose herself to a coworker, she was completely unaware, and the situation was never

brought to her attention.

| claimed she touched her buttocks. [FEREER ] said she
buttocks, but confirmed she has hugged [BS &S
because[I O] “had a lot of challenges.” explained that[®® had challenges with her health and
boyfriend. | also described B as a “fragile, fragile lady.”[ : “| can see myself putting
my arm around her. | can't see myself putting my hand on her butt though.” was pressed further about the
alleged incident and said, “| can see where I've maybe, maybe was mistaken, or maybe it was misinterpreted. But no."

] continued to claim she did not recall the incident.

S ksaid in approximatel -

wine with on a patio at their hotel.
was very inebriated. — was asked if she made advances toward [ by telling he
| confirmed she told but did not think it was durmg the TDY.

-emed making advances toward_ and said, “| can remember the event, or | mean, the evening. |
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don't know if she misconstrued my getting her to her room as that. | don't know.”
making advances and said she did not know exactly what she had said because it hap;
denied trying to continuously hang-out withf
the trip, the trip was short, she had meetings|
trip.

during the TDY. kaid they had spemﬁc tasks dur|ng
] and she only saw

id she did so because of
) has a lot of chalienges with a lot of
EEEBE T only had to do

] admitted she talked negatively abou
said " everyhody talks about
ice, I'm nat the only one.”
ork performance and not about the incident

at the office bu

performance 8%
people in theo
with [BEEEIE

0 was asked if she ever slappedfs & said she did not recall ever touching
buttocks stated she had a contentious relationship with ,_|because she had to hold [EEET]
"accountable for some things,” such as not completing tasks in a timely manner because “she doesn’t want anybody to

help her out things." [PEB@EN] descnbed BB o5 ‘very defensive” and “very high, high, high emotional, high strung at

work.” During the interview, _ was pressed about Whether she had ever touchedf’ buttocks and
continued to state she did not recali the situation. [PEEEE 3 |but could not recall a specific
incident where she touched her buttocks, even in ajoklng manner. [N "I don't recall. | mean, | would
tell you. | would tell you if | recalled slapping her butt. | don't recall slapping [E& Tbutt.”

stated,

] was asked if she ever touched]| | buttocks at Starbucks "|claimed she has hugged and put

her arm around EEBRTbut said “I don't recall full rubbing her ass.”" Jwas informed the allegation was that she

touched uttocks and then claimed she was removing a piece of halr off her buttocks. [ ]said, "l have
lationship with8E] | could see if | pulled a hair. | don’t remember that incident. But | could see myself pulling a

was pressed about the incident and repeated several times that she did not recall the incident. After

vious weekend. fEEEET final comments on the incident were, “It's a possibility that yes, I've
e | butt. And I've hugged her. And I've made comments that she looks good.”

gardening, the pre
touched

EEEmETT v as asked about an incident which involved touching ®in which
she allegedly said she wanted to feel his workout pants [ |said, "I could possibly have said something
inappropriate like that...and | could have possibly have [5|c] grabbed his ass." [2 further said, | could have. It
could have possibly happened. | mean, | don't recall the pants, but | can see—I flirted with [EEE] before. And | have
probably said some things to him. And that could have possibly happened. That | touched him.” When pressed about the
incident, [® - response was, "It could have happened. Yeah."

| was asked why she could not recall any of the situations or recall if she ever slapped anybody’s buttocks at
the Workpiace |responded, “I don't know if | have or not. | mean, | don’t want to sound stupid or I'm trying
to deny, trying to be evasive. | could have. | could have. | could have maybe, you know, touched somebady on the butt.
| could have done that not with any malice or sexual...way.” She then went on to acknowledge, “I'm a touchy person” and
‘| could have touched somebody's butt without really thinking about it. And it could have been misperceived as
something more than what it was. Nobody has accused me.... Nobody said, don't do that.”

The OIG reviewed email and phone records
pertinent to the allegations. Emails among[£

ciated with |and did not identify anything

|all appeared professional.

declined to submit to a voluntary polygraph examination.
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0IG’s Conclusion

The OIG investigation substantiated the allegations that sexuaﬂy harassed multiple coworkers and engaged
in unprofessional conduct both on and off duty, in violation of FBI Offense Code 5.20, 5.21, and 5.22; the FBI's Harassment
Policy (1038D); the Department'’s April 30, 2018, policy regarding "Sexual Harassment and Sexual Mlsconduct " and Title VII
of the Civil Rights Act as implemented by 29 CF. R § 1604.11. Further the OIG concluded that[® engaged in
Misdemeanor Sexual Abuse, in violation of [HEHEES '

The OIG determine requently made mapproprlate sexualjokes comments, and gestures in the workplace
and physically touched the buttocks of four coworkers; [P | The |nC|dents
involvin occurred inside FBI office space, and the incident mvoiwng ;

occurred during office hours whil and another FBI employee were at a local Starbucks. All fc:aur
coworkers indicated that the conduct was unexpected and unwanted, and there was no evidence any of the incidents were
accidental. Rather, based on the testimony tha : constantly made sexual comments, gestures, and jokes at
work that made coworkers feel uncomfortable, we found that the incidents of unwanted touchlng similarly were sexual in
e. In addition, bot old the OIG that they specifi ]
k told the OIG that patted her on the buttocks after|
“was not interested in her romantically. Even if these coworkers had not outwardly DbJe ted, in Ilght of the Department’s
and the FBl's clear zero tolerance policies against sexual harassment in the workplace, ' |should have known
that intentionally touching the buttocks of another co-worker with whom she did not have a romantic relationship, even
as a joke, constituted inappropriate conduct of a sexual nature. In addition, “" | told the OIG that
conduct caused her distress at work, including embarrassment in front of a male coworker and fear that denying
@ lsexual advances could negatively impact her career. Moreover bemdesthe testimony of inappropriately
touching co-workers’ buttocks, there was significant testimony that| : A | constant sexual jokes, comments, and
gestures made multiple FBI employees uncomfortable in the workplace Based on the testimony of these witnesses
combined with the fact that|® _ acknowledged she might have made inappropriate sexual comments at work
and touched coworkers’ buttocks, we concluded FEEmS viclated the Department’s and the FBI's zero tolerance
policy against sexual harassment as well as Title VIl of the Civil Rights Act, as implemented by 29 C.F.R. § 1604.11, because
these actions all involved “verbal or physical duct of a sexual nature” which “created an intimidating, hostile, or
offensive work environment.” In addition, | Jconduct seriously called into question her judgment and
character, which we found violated FBI Offense Code 5.21 to the extent it occurred off-duty and FBI Offense Code 5.22 to
the extent it occurred on-duty.

We also concluded that | actions of slapping or grabbing four co-workers' buttocks without permission,
which, for the three incidents that occurred in the amounted to Misdemeanor Sexual Abuse, in
wolatlon of | All four coworkers told the OIG that they had professional nonromantic relationships

totality of the c;rcumstances including the testlmony of multiple coworkers that .

sexual comments and jokes at work, [P SEEE tostimony ltold her that she was interested in §
romantically, | admissions that she flirted with] found Eattractwe and _
descriptions of the contentious relationships she had with “ ' we found that [ 5
acts of touchlng her coworkers' buttocks were sexual in nature and done either for the purpase of sexual gratlflcatlon or,
especially in the cases off and M| to harass or degrade her coworkers. Even if the conduct was intended as a
sexual joke, such intentional conduct in a professional environment was inherently harassing and degrading.
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The OIG further found tha

engaged in unprofessional conduct and sexual harassment when she Iifted her

and “told
and
) 1 would

action of frequently puttmg her arm around

|intentionally kissed
kissed him on the mouth at the airport and that the encounter was unsolncnted and
Mlsimilarly reported to him [EEEEEE had kissed him on the mouth
;'. lips were wet. Jacknowledged that
while they were departing the airport | | she gavef! | farewell side kisses from cheek to cheek, as part of a
traditional cultural goodbye gesture testimony regarding her interactions with -were
inconsistent. On the one hand she told the OIG she would not have wanted to kiss 0] because she did not know
him well, and she barely saw him on the TDY because they had different schedules. On the other hand
admitted to flirting with[PBREI] during their TDY. In addition, contrary to FEEERE report to the OIG and to
B " |did not acknowledge her lips touched| lips, but only acknowledged that there was a
possible misperception. We credlted ] account because we identified no incentive for him to fabricate and his
repeated statement tol@EEEIEN (a5 told to OIG by ] that the situation was “fucking weird” seemed candid.
On the other hand, we found it incredibl L |did not remember that her lips had touchedf |lips, given
|description of the situation as awkward and unusual. Based on inconsistencies and lack of
credibility, as well as the multiple allegations by multiple individuals of inappropriate conduct of a sexual nature against
her, we concluded tha Jsexually harassed by kissing him on the lips.

The OIG did not credit PEEEERN testimony that she “did not recall” or denying that she had engaged in sexual
harassment. PE2P8 repeatedly stated that, while she did not recall whether she touched her co-workers’ buttocks,
she also stated it "could have" or "probably” happened. The OIG found it inconceivable that] Jcould not
remember whether she touched her coworkers' buttocks at work, given that such behavior was highly inappropriate for a
work environment and therefore should have been memaorable. Further | said she had never been
counseled by a supervisor concerning her behavior, which contradicted |£ festimony that he made it clear to
she had been verbaily counseled ab0u1 the event surroundingf? | during which he made it clear to

Jaccount changed throughout the course of the interview.

The OIG also concluded that || lacked candor during her compelled OIG interview, in violation of FBI Offense
Code 2.6, Lack of Candor/Lying — Under Oath, for similar reasons. In particular, |inability to remember
whether she touched her co-warkers' buttocks coupled with her hedging with answers like it "could have” or "probably”
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happened was evasive and incredible. In contrast,-as definitive with a "hundred percent surety” that she
never touched the buttocks of a foreign colleague. Instead of admitting to or taking responsibility for her conduct,
PEBS v ade excuses—for example, referring to herself as a “touchy” person—and shifted the blame to others—for
example referring to [lBlmalas “very defensive” and “very high, high, high emotional, high strung at work” and referring to
EEBEE T as a “fragile, fragile lady,” who had trouble getting along with co-workers. We found these statements were
irrelevant to the questions the OIG posed to ﬁwere made solely for the purpose of shifting blame to avoid
being truthful and taking responsibility for her misconduct. FEBEST testimony about being counseled by a
supervisor contradictedﬁanc_estimony. Further, testimony changed during the
interview—at first, she said that the only person who mentioned that she had kissed wasEET] but then she
acknowledged that she also discussed the incident with _yet she continued to deny that it was a counseling or

reprimand. [FEPEEIIN] also denied that ver told her to stop doing any particular actions, asfPEae ]
testified, rather tacitly blamed| by telling OIG that Haid to her, “you know, you got to
watch these people. testimony about howhfound about the incident also contradicted

—testimony. estified that he specifically told _that_ had disclosed the
‘allegations to said that [PEEBBETo|d her that he heard about the allegation from-

T attributing_knowledge of the allegations to_and not to directly hearing them from the
victim EEES@@N|was likely an effort to undermine the strength of the allegations. We credited—testimon_y
over _:onflicting testimony because of BEEEBE T lchanging accounts and general obfuscation
throughout the course of the interview.
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Failure to Report Allegations of Sexual Harassment

The information rovided to the OIG alleged that _failed to report-allegation that he was sexually

harassed by

The Memorandum for Heads of Department Components: “Sexual Harassment and Sexual Misconduct,” dated April 30,
2018, states that “Managers or other component-identified points of contact who receive an allegation of sexual
harassment or misconduct must report the allegation to a designated management official.”

The FBI Harassment Policy at 5.3.2.3. states that once a supervisor is aware of an allegation and finds that it fits within the
Policy’s definition of *harassment,” a “supervisor must take appropriate, immediate action and report the allegation, in
writing, to the INSD, Internal Investigations Section (ISS).” The Harassment Policy, at 5.2.2, defines Sexual Harassment as
including “Physical touching or the threat of physical contact,” “Oral or written comments of a sexual nature,” and
"Statements, jokes, or anecdotes with sexual content or innuendos.” The Harassment Policy at 6.4 further states that “[a]
supervisor who is aware of an alleged incident and who fails to take immediate and appropriate action may be subject to
disciplinary action, even if the supervisor is not in the employee's chain of command.”
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Itold OIG that“told him th . lips touched his lips and "he thought it was intentional.”
According to _ repeatecﬁy told him, “It was fucking weird." 2 Jsaid he asked {EFEBEER] how he
wanted him to handle the incident, ang responded that he thought [should know about the incident

becaus kaid he did not want to report the
incident.

1 specifically
also conducted an

|had proposed a “threesome” with

0IiG’s Conclusion

The OIG finds that “ailed to report ' . lallegations that he was sexual harassed by
: * lallegations were a first-hand account of sexual harassment that fall within the FBI Harassment Policy def‘mtmn
of sexual hafassment’ and wh;ch : deemed sufficiently concrete to require addressing withf

5 ' : 5 make sexual comments butf

indication that he attempted to bury the allegations. FBl's Harassment Policy, however, states that, when a supervisor is
aware of a sexual harassment allegation, the “supervisor must...report the allegation, in writing to the INSD.” This directive
is without regard to the victim’s preference on reporting or the supervisor's assessment of the allegation beyond the
determination that the allegation meets the definition of “sexual harassment.” In addition, the FBI's Harassment Policy
does not include "verbal counseling” as an option for responding to allegations of sexual harassment.
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